S262699

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BONNIE DUCKSWORTH et al.)	Case No.:
)	
Plaintiffs and Petitioners)	
)	
)	
)	
TRI-MODAL DISTRIBUTION)	
SERVICES, INC. et al.)	
Defendants and Respondents)	
)	
)	

After a Final Opinion of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division 8, Case No. B294872, Affirming Final Judgments on Orders Granting Summary Judgments

The Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Case No. BC676917 The Honorable Lia Martin, Presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In a cause of action alleging *quid pro quo* sexual harassment resulting in a failure to promote in violation of the *Fair Employment and Housing Act* ("*FEHA*") did the statute of limitations to file an administrative complaint with the Department of Fair Employment and Housing ("DFEH") begin to run when the successful candidate was offered and accepted the position, or when that promotion took effect, some six week later, where there is no evidence that Plaintiff was aware of that promotion on the earlier date? (*Romano v. Rockwell International, Inc.*, 14 Cal.4th 479, 491 (1996)).

2. Is it proper for the Court of Appeal to award costs on appeal pursuant to Rule 8.278 of the *California Rules of Court* against an unsuccessful *FEHA* Appellant,

¹ Plaintiff and Appellant BONNIE DUCKSWORTH has resolved the entirety of the claims alleged by her in the underlying action and therefore is not a party to this Petition.

notwithstanding the absence of a finding that Appellant's underlying *FEHA* claims were objectively frivolous? (*Williams v. Chino Valley Independent Fire District*, 61 Cal.4th 979 (2015)).

III.

PROCEDURAL POSTURE

The Superior Court entered judgment in favor of Respondents (1) KELSO on November 20, 2018, and (2) SCOTT'S and PACIFIC on December 6, 2018, after having granted their motions for summary judgment. The Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 8, affirmed in a published Opinion filed on April 7, 2020. On April 10, 2020, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, addressing the award of costs. The Court of Appeal denied the petition for rehearing by written order filed on April 22, 2020. Copies of the petition for rehearing and the order denying said petition are attached hereto as Exhibits B and C, respectively. The Opinion became final on June 8, 2020.

IV.

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The issues presented by this Petition are matters of first impression and of paramount importance to California public policy, as announced by this Court, that *FEHA* statutes of limitations be liberally construed and claims arising under *FEHA* be litigated on their merits, without fear that non prevailing employees be subject to fees and costs where their claims are not objectively frivolous.

Issue 1 relates to Petitioner PAMELA POLLOCK's ("POLLOCK") claim of quid pro quo sexual harassment against Respondent MICHAEL KELSO ("KELSO"), Executive Vice President of her employer TRI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC., ABILITY TRI-MODAL TRANSPORTATIONS SERVICES, INC. and DECOY FREIGHT SYSTEMS, INC. (collectively "TRI-MODAL"), a trucking and warehouse business, where she has worked as a customer service representative since September 13, 1995. POLLOCK claims that she was denied promotions by KELSO, because she refused to engage in a sexual relationship with him, in violation of FEHA, specifically *Government Code* § 12940(j)(1), (3). Instead, KELSO promoted Leticia Gonzalez. Gonzalez was offered and accepted the promotion in March 2017, but did not assume the position until May 1, 2017. POLLOCK filed her administrative complaint with the DFEH on April 18, 2018. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal held that the then existing one year statute of limitations in *Government Code* § 12960(d) began to run when Martinez was offered and accepted the promotion in March 2017, not when it took effect on May 1, 2017, some six weeks later. As such, POLLOCK's claim was time-barred.

The issue of whether the statute of limitations begins when the successful candidate is offered and accepts the position or when the promotion takes effect has not been addressed by this Court or any other Court of Appeal. As such, it presents a matter of first impression, and its resolution is of the utmost importance to the orderly resolution of *FEHA* claims.

The determinations of the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal that the earlier date governs is contrary to this Court's holding in *Romano v. Rockwell International, Inc.*, 14 Cal.4th 479, 491 (1996) that the *FEHA* statute of limitations (1) begins to run when the employment action at issue occurs, not when it is announced, and (2) should be liberally construed to permit the resolution of *FEHA* claims on their merits. This is particularly true here, given that there is no evidence that POLLOCK was made aware of the Martinez promotion prior to Martinez assuming the position on May 1, 2017.

Issue 2 addresses the award of costs in favor of Respondents by the Court of Appeal, without a finding that Petitioner's claims were objectively frivolous. In *Williams v. Chino Valley Independent Fire District,* this Court held that the general costs provisions in *Code of Civil Procedure* § 1032(b) are supplanted by those costs provisions in *Government Code* § 12965(b), which are specific to *FEHA*, and therefore costs should be awarded to a prevailing *FEHA* defendant only upon a finding that the underlying action was objectively frivolous. This Court never has addressed whether its rationale applies to costs on appeal under Rule 8.278 of the *California Rules of Court* and therefore, this is an issue of first impression. Further, determination of this issue is of extreme importance. If permitted to stand, the Court of Appeal's determination will chill the rights of California employees to pursue discrimination actions without fear of oppressive awards for fees and costs, a public policy on which this Court relied in its *Williams* opinion.

///

///

V.

FACTS

A. POLLOCK'S QUID PRO QUO CLAIM.

POLLOCK is African American and has been employed as a customer service representative with TRI-MODAL since September 13, 1995. KELSO, who is white, is an Executive Vice President with TRIMODAL; POLLOCK works within KELSO's chain of command.

KELSO and POLLOCK commenced dating in or around August 2014. The relationship began when KELSO invited POLLOCK into his office. After a brief conversation, KELSO offered POLLOCK a glass of wine. When POLLOCK said she had to leave, KELSO grabbed POLLOCK and kissed her passionately. Up through June 2016, KELSO and POLLOCK dated outside of work 10 to 20 times, going to dinners and movies, and KELSO brought POLLOCK gifts when he travelled out of town. They would hug and kiss passionately on these dates, and KELSO would become erect. KELSO would come into POLLOCK's work area and hug and kiss her passionately. He also would sit next to POLLOCK at company meetings and rub her thighs under the table. KELSO sent some 296 pages of emails to POLLOCK on TRI-MODAL's computer, which KELSO admitted was against company policy. POLLOCK asked KELSO if their relationship was contrary to the company's rules, which forbade romantic relationships between superiors and subordinates. KELSO responded that those rules did not apply to him.

POLLOCK and KELSO never had sexual intercourse. KELSO wanted the relationship to become sexual. He offered to fly POLLOCK to Santa Barbara and other cities where he was travelling on business and stay in hotels with him. But, POLLOCK refused. KELSO continually told POLLOCK he "wanted more." Eventually, KELSO became impatient and jealous, demanding to know where POLLOCK had been when he was unable to contact her and why she had not returned his calls. KELSO began making racially insulting statements to POLLOCK. On three occasions during dates, when POLLOCK told KELSO she needed to go home, KELSO told her, "go home and cook collard greens." POLLOCK stopped communicating with KELSO and the dating relationship ceased in June 2016.

KELSO tried to keep his relationship with POLLOCK secret, but people at the office were suspicious. POLLOCK's superior, Terminal Manager Ricardo Velasquez, asked POLLOCK why KELSO was spending so much time in her office. The relationship was revealed when POLLOCK filed suit. TRI-MODAL then hired an investigator. As of the dates of the management depositions, no one was aware of the results of the investigation, and KELSO had not been disciplined. However, KELSO expected some discipline. When asked in deposition if he had been disciplined for engaging in the relationship with POLLOCK, KELSO responded, "not yet."

After POLLOCK terminated their relationship, KELSO promoted Leticia Gonzalez into a supervisory position. TRI-MODAL offered Gonzalez the position in March 2017 and she accepted. However, Gonzalez did not begin working in the

position until May 1, 2017. There is no evidence that POLLOCK became aware of the Martinez promotion until May 1, 2017.

On April 18, 2018, POLLOCK filed an administrative complaint against KELSO with the DFEH, alleging *quid pro quo* sexual harassment in violation of *FEHA*. The DFEH issued to POLLOCK a right to sue notice that same day.

B. THE COURT OF APPEAL AWARDS COSTS TO RESPONDENTS.

In its April 7, 2020 published Opinion, the Court of Appeal awarded costs to

Respondents. There is no finding in the Opinion that Appellants' underlying claims, all of which allege violations of *FEHA*, are objectively frivolous.

VI.

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. POLLOCK'S QUID PRO QUO CLAIM.²

The issue of whether the statute of limitations begins when the successful candidate is offered and accepts a promotion or when that promotion takes effect has not been addressed by this Court or any other Court of Appeal. As such, it presents a matter of first impression, and its resolution is of the utmost importance to the orderly resolution of *FEHA* claims.

The determinations of the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal that the earlier date governs are contrary to this Court's holding in *Romano v. Rockwell International*,

² POLLOCK's *quid pro quo* cause of action also challenges the promotions of employees Mitch Perez, Jaime Guevara, Maria Elizondo, Angel Mejia, Alejandra Gomez and Jessica Ramirez. Those promotions are not subject to the instant Petition.

Inc., 14 Cal.4th 479, 491 (1996) that the *FEHA* statute of limitations (1) begins to run when the employment action at issue takes effect, not when it is announced, and (2) should be liberally construed to permit the resolution of *FEHA* claims on their merits.

There is no dispute that Gonzalez was offered and accepted the promotion in March 2017, outside the statute of limitations, but that promotion did not take effect until May 1, 2017, within one year of POLLOCK filing her DFEH complaint. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal held that the earlier date controls and accordingly POLLOCK's claim was time barred.

This determination runs afoul of California public policy, as announced by this Court in *Romano v. Rockwell International, Inc.*, 14 Cal.4th 479, 491 (1996). *Romano* stands for the proposition that the *FEHA* statute of limitations begins to run when the employment action at issue takes effect, not when it is announced. *Ibid* (emphasis added).

This Court's holding was premised on (1) the clear language of *Government Code* § 12960, and (2) the established underlying remedial public policy that *FEHA* claims be litigated on their merits:

[B]y the terms of Government Code section 12960 the limitations period applicable to administrative claims begins to run "after" the unlawful employment practice … "occurred." If the administrative complaint must be filed within one year "after" the unlawful practice … occurred, then for the purpose of the complaint, the administrative cause of action must accrue and the statute of limitations must run from the time of **actual** termination. It would not run from earlier date of notification of discharge, because on that date the unlawful practice ... has not yet "occurred." Such an interpretation is consistent with the plain meaning of the statutory language. It is also consistent with the remedial purpose of the FEHA to safeguard the employee's right to seek, obtain and hold employment without experiencing discrimination.

The FEHA itself requires that we interpret its terms liberally in order to accomplish that stated legislative purpose. In order to carry out the purpose of the FEHA to safeguard employee's rights to hold employment without experiencing discrimination, the limitations period set out in the FEHA should be interpreted so as to promote resolution of potentially meritorious claims on the merits ... [I]n addition to being consistent with the plain meaning of the statute ...a construction of the limitation period that favors adjudication on the merits is more consistent with the remedial purposes of the law than one likely to bar potentially meritorious claims.

Further ... such a rule does not impose an undue burden on employers by forcing them to defend stale claims. First, the period between notification and termination usually is short. Second, both dates are within the employer's control, and the employer may secure or retain evidence in case a claim should arise...Further, a holding that the statute of limitations on a claim under the FEHA runs from the time of notification ... would

promote premature and potentially destructive claims, in that the employee would be required to institute a complaint with the Department ... for a harm that has not yet occurred... Such a rule would reduce sharply any chance of conciliation between the employer and employee and draw the Department into investigations that might have been avoided through informal conciliation.

Romano, supra, 14 Cal.4th at 493-95 (emphasis added; citations omitted).

It is inconsistent with *FEHA*'s remedial policy to require POLLOCK to have administratively challenged the Gonzalez promotion during the approximate 60 days between Martinez being offered and accepting the position in March 2017 and it taking effect on May 1, 2017. A challenge during that period would have been premature. During this 60 day window, Respondents could have rescinded the offer, or Gonzalez might have withdrawn her acceptance, among other things. Simply put, the actual damage to POLLOCK did not occur until the promotion became effective on May 1, 2017. Further, as *Romano* noted, this brief period could not have rendered POLLOCK's claim stale.

The Court of Appeal suggested that the earlier date should govern, because POLLOCK was made aware of the promotion at that time (Opinion at 14-15). But the record is devoid of any such evidence. As such, notions of fundamental fairness mandate that the later date must govern. *Cf. Holmberg v. Armbrecht*, 327 U.S. 392, 397 (1946).

///

B. THE AWARD OF COSTS BY THE COURT OF APPEAL.

In Williams v. Chino Valley Independent Fire District, supra, this Court held that the general costs provisions in Code of Civil Procedure § 1032(b) are supplanted by those costs provisions in Government Code § 12965(b), which are specific to FEHA, and therefore costs should be awarded to a prevailing FEHA defendant only upon a finding that the underlying action was objectively frivolous. This Court never has addressed whether its rationale applies to costs on appeal under Rule 8.278 of the California Rules of Court and therefore, this is an issue of first impression. Further, determination of this issue is of extreme importance. If permitted to stand, the Court of Appeal's determination will chill the rights of California employees to pursue discrimination actions without fear of oppressive claims for fees and costs, a public policy on which this Court relied in its Williams opinion.

The Court of Appeal's award of costs absent a finding that Petitioner's underlying *FEHA* claims are objectively frivolous is incorrect, as a matter of law. The Court of Appeal made no finding (nor could it have) that Petitioner's underlying *FEHA* claims, or the appeal of the judgment, was objectively frivolous. For example, in addressing Petitioners' objections to the declaration of Timothy Mullaney, which if sustained, would have disposed of Respondent KELSO's statute of limitations defense, the Court of Appeal characterized Petitioners' position as a "close call" (Opinion at 13).

Absent a finding of "objectively frivolous", an award of costs to a prevailing defendant in a *FEHA* action is improper. As explained by this Court in *Williams, supra,*

A prevailing defendant, however, should not be awarded fees and costs unless the court finds the action was objectively without foundation when brought, or the plaintiff continued to litigate after it clearly became so. *Williams, supra,* 61 Cal.4th at 115 (emphasis added).

Government Code § 12965(b) should take precedence over the general cost provision in Rule 8.278(a)(1) of the *California Rules of Court*. In *Williams, supra,* this Court analyzed the propriety of an award of costs to a prevailing *FEHA* defendant under *Code of Civil Procedure* §1032(b). This Court specifically held that the general cost provisions of §1032(b) are supplanted by those in *Government Code* § 12965(b), which are specific to *FEHA*.

> We conclude that <u>Government Code</u> section 12965(b) is an express exception to <u>Code of Civil Procedure</u> section 1032(b) and the former, rather than the latter, therefore governs cost awards in FEHA cases. The FEHA statute expressly directs the use of a different standard than the general costs statute: Costs that would be awarded as a matter of right to the prevailing party under <u>Code of Civil Procedure</u> section 1032(b) are instead awarded in the discretion of the trial court under <u>Government Code</u> section 12965(b). By making a cost award discretionary rather than mandatory, <u>Government Code</u> section 12965(b) expressly excepts FEHA actions from <u>Code of Civil Procedure</u> section 1032(b)'s mandate for a cost award to a prevailing party.

Williams, supra, 61 Cal.4th at 105 (underlining in original).

Statutory attorney fee and cost provisions are interpreted to apply to attorney fees and costs on appeal unless the statute provides otherwise." *Marcos v. Board of Retirement*, 51 Cal.3d 924, 929 (1990). *Government Code* § 12965(b) contains no language specifically excluding appeals from the statutory authorization of costs. Thus, *Government Code* § 12965(b), which is specific to *FEHA* and permits an award of costs only where the court finds the underlying action frivolous, must supplant the general cost provision in *CRC* 8.278(a)(1). *Marcos, supra,* 51 Cal.3d at 929; *Boyle v. City of Redondo Beach,* 70 Cal.App.4th 1109, 1121 (1999).

To summarize, the purpose of *FEHA* "to encourage persons injured by discrimination to seek judicial relief" would be completely undermined if plaintiffs in non-frivolous actions could suffer the imposition of costs if they lose. *Williams, supra,* 61 Cal.4th at 112. *Government Code* § 12965(b) provides protection that such a result does not occur. The Court of Appeal's award of costs without the prerequisite finding of clear frivolousness should be reversed.

///

///

///

- ///
- ///
- ///
- ///
- ///

VII

CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant their petition for review.