IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Case No. S262699

BONNIE DUCKSWORTH and PAMELA POLLOCK

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

-vs-

MICHAEL KELSO; SCOTT'S LABOR LEASING, INC.; PACIFIC LEASING, INC.

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Final Opinion of the Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division 8, Case No. B294872, Affirming Final Judgments on Orders Granting Summary Judgments

The Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Case No. BC676917
The Honorable Lia Martin, Presiding

SCOTTS LABOR LEASING COMPANY, INC. AND PACIFIC LEASING, INC.'S ANSWER TO PAMELA POLLOCK'S SUPREME COURT PETITION

I. INTRODUCTION

The Superior Court entered judgment in favor of Respondents (1) KELSO on November 20, 2018, and (2) SCOTT'S and PACIFIC on December 6, 2018, after having granted their motions for summary judgment. The Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 8, affirmed in a published Opinion filed on April 7, 2020. On April 10, 2020, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, addressing the award of costs. The Court of Appeal denied the petition for rehearing by written order filed on April 22, 2020. (Copies of the petition for rehearing and the order denying said petition are attached TO Appellant's Petition for Review as Exhibits B and C, respectively.) The Opinion of the Court of Appeals became final on May 21, 2020. Plaintiff's Petition for Review is untimely and should be denied outright.

II. ARGUMENT

California Rule of Court 8.264(b) provides as follows:

- (b) Finality of decision
 - (1) Except as otherwise provided in this rule, a Court of Appeal decision is a civil appeal, including an order dismissing an appeal

involuntarily, is final in that court 30 days after filing. CRC 8.264(b)

In this matter, the Court of Appeals filed its order denying Appellant's Petition for Rehearing on April 22, 2020. Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.264(b), the Court of Appeals order became final thirty days after on May 21, 2020.

California Rule of Court 8.500(e) dictates that "a petition for review must be served and filed within 10 days after the Court of Appeals decision is final in that court." Accordingly, any Petition for review had to be filed by or before June 1, 2020. CRC 8.500(e). Appellant did not file the instant Petition until June 9, 2020. The Petition for Rehearing is untimely.

III. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Appellant's Petition for Review is untimely and should be denied outright.

Dated: June 15, 2020 LARSON & GASTON, LLP

By: Gloria G. Medel, Esq.

Daniel K. Gaston, SBN 113437 Gloria G. Medel, SBN 199462 Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents SCOTTS LABOR LEASING COMPANY, INC. and PACIFIC LEASING, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to Rule 8.504(d) of the California Rules of Court, I hereby certify that this brief contains 6,623 words, including footnotes. In making this certification, I have relied on the word count of the Microsoft Word computer program used to prepare the brief.

Dated: June 15, 2020 LARSON & GASTON, LLP

By: Lloria L. Medel, Esq.
Daniel K. Gaston, SBN 113437
Gloria G. Medel, SBN 199462

Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents SCOTTS LABOR LEASING COMPANY, INC. and PACIFIC

LEASING, INC.

PROOF OF SERVICE

I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California. I am over the age of 18 and not a party to the within action; my business address 200 S. Los Robles Avenue, Suite 530, Pasadena, CA 91101

On June 15, 2020, I served the foregoing document described as: SCOTTS LABOR LEASING COMPANY, INC. AND PACIFIC LEASING, INC.'S ANSWER TO PAMELA POLLOCK'S SUPREME COURT PETITION, on the interested parties in this action by electronic transmission via TrueFiling whose e-filing system will automatically electronically serve following the parties and attorneys of record:

Kevin Andrew Lipeles	Maital Savin			
Julian Bellenghi	Karimah Lamar			
Lipeles Law Group	Littler Mendelson, P.C.			
880 Apollo Street, #336	2050 Main Street, Suite 900			
El Segundo, CA 90245	Irvine, CA 92614			
kevin@kallaw.com	MSavin@littler.com			
Julian@kallaw.com	KLamar@littler.com			
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and	Attorneys for Defendants and			
Appellants, Bonnie Ducksworth Respondents, Tri -Modal				
and Pamela Pollock	Distribution Services, Ability Tri-			
(Via TrueFiling)	Modal Transportation Services,			
	Inc., and Decoy Freight Systems			
	(Via TrueFiling)			
Jack E. Jimenez	Lann G. Mcintyre			
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD	LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD			
& SMITHLLP	& SMITHLLP			
633 West 5th Street, Suite 4000	701 B Street, Suite 1900			
Los Angeles, California 90071	San Diego, CA 9210			
jack.jimenez@lewisbrisbois.com	Lann.mcintyre@lewisbrisbois.com			
Attorneys for Defendant and	Attorneys for Defendant and			
Respondent MICHAEL KELSO	Respondent MICHAEL KELSO			
(Via TrueFiling)	(Via TrueFiling)			

On June 15, 2020, I also served the foregoing document described as: SCOTTS LABOR LEASING COMPANY, INC. AND PACIFIC LEASING, INC.'S ANSWER TO PAMELA POLLOCK'S SUPREME COURT PETITION, via mail on the persons listed below by placing a true copy thereof, enclosed in a sealed envelope following the ordinary business practice of LARSON & GASTON, LLP. I am personally and readily familiar with the business practice of LARSON & GASTON, LLP for collection and processing of documents for mailing with the U.S. Postal Service, pursuant to which mail placed for collection at designated stations in the ordinary course of business is deposited the same day, proper postage prepaid, with the U.S. Postal Service.

Honorable Lia Martin Los Angeles Superior Courthouse Department 16 Los Angeles, CA 90012

California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 8 300 South Spring Street Los Angeles, CA 90013-1213

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration was executed on June 15, 2020, at Pasadena, California.

<u>Nicole Padget</u> Nicole Padget

Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically FILED on 6/15/2020 by M. Chang, Deputy Clerk

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Supreme Court of California